THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE
COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2007-CP-11-00802
Appellate Case No. 2020-000161

RECEIVED
Oct 07 2020
SC Court of Appeals

David L. O'Shields, Appellant

v.

Piedmont Glass & Mirror Company, Julie Taylor, David Taylor, and Carolina
Storefront Systems, Inc, Respondents.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF-
INITIAL

October 5, 2020

s/Chelsea R. Rikard

A BUSINESS LAW FIRM, LLC
Thomas A. Belenchia (SC. Bar No. 2371)
tab@abizlaw.com
Chelsea R. Rikard (SC Bar No. 102355)
crr@abizlaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff
P.O. Box 3421
Spartanburg, SC 29304 T:
(864) 699-9803

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON
APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court err in applying the Statute of Frauds to find that Appellant was not a partner in the partnership or a shareholder in the subsequent corporations?
- II. Did the Circuit Court err in failing to find that Respondents were equitably estopped from asserting the Statute of Frauds?
- III. Did the circuit court err in applying the Statute of Limitations to find that Appellant was not a partner in the partnership or a shareholder in the subsequent corporations?
- IV. Did the Circuit Court err in failing to find that Appellant was oppressed as a shareholder by Respondents Taylor?
- V. Did the Circuit Court err in failing to find that Respondent Carolina Storefront Systems, Inc. is a successor corporation of Piedmont Glass & Mirror, Company, Inc.?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant David Lynn O'Shields ("Lynn") filed this action in 2007 against Respondents David Taylor ("David"), and Julie Taylor ("Julie"), and Piedmont Glass and Mirror Company, Inc. ("PGM"). (Summons and Complaint; R. p. 17-30). This matter involves an ownership dispute between Lynn, and Julie and David Taylor, for the ownership of a glass installation business in Cherokee County, South Carolina. The causes of action included: Accounting, Conversion, Ultra Vires, Conflict of Interest Transaction, Breach of Fiduciary Duties, Preference, Judicial Dissolution of Corporation, Civil Conspiracy, Negligent Misrepresentation, violation of the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act, claim for Workers Compensation, Negligence/Gross Negligence, and Negligent Supervision. (Id.; R. p. 17-30) At the same time, Appellant filed a petition with the South Carolina Worker's Compensation Commission. (Transcript, pg. 40; R. p. 120, lines 11-14) Respondents filed counterclaims including: Breach of Duty of Loyalty, Violation of the South Carolina Corporate Code § 33-8-420, and Breach of Fiduciary Duties. In 2014, Appellant filed an Amended Summons and Complaint and added Respondent Carolina Storefront Systems, Inc. ("CSS"). (Amended Summons and Complaint; R. p. 50-65). The Amended pleadings kept all of the original causes of action with the exception of the cause of action pursuant to the Workers Compensation Act, and it added the following causes of action: Fraudulent Transaction, Shareholder Oppression pursuant to S.C. Code Ann § 33-14-300, and Court Appointment of Receiver. (Id.) In the amended pleadings, Appellant sought a finding that he was oppressed as a shareholder, a divestment of profits that Respondents Taylor misappropriated, a finding that he was also a shareholder in Carolina Storefront Systems, Inc. and judicial dissolution and liquidation of assets of Piedmont Glass & Mirror Company, Inc. and Carolina Storefront Systems, Inc. Respondents filed the same counterclaims found in their original Answer and Counterclaim.

(Amended Answer and Counterclaim; R. p. 66-90).

In February 2019, this case was tried as a bench trial before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II. Appellant's causes of action for violation of the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act and Negligence/Gross Negligence were dismissed prior to the trial. All of Appellant's causes of action rested on the central issue of whether he was a shareholder in PGM. On June 4, 2019, the circuit court issued an Order finding that Appellant was not a shareholder in either of the Respondent entities, thus all of his causes of action are moot, as were Respondent's counterclaims. (Trial Order; R. p. 4-13). The Court did not rule on the causes of action individually or specifically, rather it applied the Statute of Frauds and the Statute of Limitations to find that Appellant failed to meet his burden of proof that he was a partner or a shareholder. (Id.). Appellant timely filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. (Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend; R. p. 91-100). The Court received oral arguments on the motion from both parties and issued an Order on January 2, 2020. (Alter or Amend Order; R. p. 14-16).

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Lynn is the brother of Respondent Julie Taylor and the brother-in-law of Respondent David Taylor (collectively referred to as the “Taylors”). (Transcript pg. 16; R. p. 101, lines 18-21).

I. The sole proprietorship of Piedmont Glass & Mirror Company

In the early to mid-1990’s, Julie Taylor purchased a glass installation business called Piedmont Glass, Incorporated. (Transcript, pg. 181-183; R. p. 145-147). She renamed the business Piedmont Glass & Mirror and operated this business as a sole proprietorship. (Transcript, pg. 185-186; R. p.149-150). In 1995, Julie began to experience difficulty running and growing the business, therefore she approached Lynn and asked him to leave his current job and come work for her to manage her employees and “help her run and grow the business.” (Transcript, pg. 18; 186; R. p. 103, lines 23-25; 150, lines 16-25). Lynn testified that Julie asked him to come work for her for one year at a reduced salary and in exchange, he would become a 50% partner in Piedmont Glass & Mirror. (Transcript, pg. 17; R. p. 102, lines 3-24). Lynn’s wife, Sarah O’Shields, bore witness to this conversation and testified that while she and Lynn were at the home of Lynn and Julie’s parents, Julie approached Lynn, expressed that she was having difficulty managing her crews, and offered for Lynn to work for her for one year at a reduced salary, in exchange for 50 percent of the business. (Transcript, pg. 105-106; R. p. 134-135). Additionally, Mark O’Shields, who is the brother of both Julie and Lynn, worked for Julie at Piedmont Glass and Mirror. (Transcript, pg. 116; R. p. 142, lines 9-14). Mark testified at trial that he was approached by Julie regarding this topic while he was also working for her. (Transcript, 117; R. p. 143, 1-18). He testified that Julie approached him and explained why she chose Lynn to be her business partner rather than him; “She said ‘I want to explain to you why I chose Lynn to be my business partner and instead of you’ . . . ‘So, she told [Lynn] that, if he would come run the commercial glass business for one

year, that he would be 50 percent owner of the business and that's it.” (Transcript, pg. 117; R. p. 143, lines 1-18). Lynn acknowledges this was an oral agreement and they did not have a written partnership agreement. (Transcript, pg. 48; R. p. 125, lines 5-7).

II. The Partnership of Piedmont Glass & Mirror Company

At the time that Julie approached Lynn with this offer, he was working for a manufacturing plant called Cone Mills. (Transcript, pg. 17; R. p. 102, lines 1-2). In 1994, Lynn worked exclusively for Cone Mills and his W-2 for 1994 reports that he earned \$33,652.82 in income. (Lynn Tax Returns; R. p. 283-291). In the middle of 1995, Lynn accepted Julie's offer and went to work for her. (Transcript, pg. 18-19; R. p. 103-104; Lynn Tax Returns; R. p. 283-291). Lynn's W-2 for 1995 reports that he earned \$21,680.16 from Cone Mills and \$1,890.00 from Piedmont Glass & Mirror. (Lynn Tax Returns; R. p. 283-291). In 1996, Lynn worked exclusively for Julie and his tax return for that year reports that he earned \$10,920.00 in wages. (Lynn Tax Returns; R. p. 283-291). The year of work pursuant to the agreement ranged from middle of 1995 until middle of 1996. (Transcript, pg. 48; R. p. 125, lines 17-22). Further, when Lynn began to work for Julie in 1995 he brought personal assets into the business including his Toyota pick-up truck as well as his personal tools, including power tools and hand tools; all of which he permitted the business to use. (Transcript, pg. 20-21; 51; R. p. 105-106; R. p. 127, lines 14-25). After Lynn worked for Julie for one year, he believed that he had become a 50% partner in Piedmont Glass & Mirror. (Transcript, pg. 50; R. p. 126, lines 12-22). Respondents have maintained the position that Lynn never became a partner. (*See generally*, Answer and Counterclaim; R. p. 31-49; Amended Answer and Counterclaim; R. p. 66-90; and Arguments by Respondent Counsel on Midtrial Motions, Transcript pg. 169- 170; R. p. 266-267).

In 1996, while Lynn was working for Julie, David Taylor decided to withdraw funds from

his retirement account and loaned it to Julie. (Transcript, pg. 227; 250-251; R. p. 170, lines 7-15; R p. 188-189). His 1996 tax return reports that he withdrew \$42,231.56 from his retirement account, which he testified that he loaned to Julie to use in Piedmont Glass & Mirror. (1996 Taylor Tax Return; Transcript, pg. 227-228; R. p. 812; R. p. 170-171). Julie testified that this amount was paid by David prior to Piedmont Glass & Mirror incorporating. (Transcript pg. 213-214; R. p. 167-168).

III. The partnership incorporated into Piedmont Glass & Mirror Company, Inc.

In 1999, three years after Lynn earned a 50% share in the partnership and after David loaned Julie money, the partnership decided to incorporate into a statutory close corporation. (PGM Corporate Records; R. p. 292-295). Therefore on December 10, 1998, David, Julie, and Lynn executed the following documents:

- Articles of Incorporation for Piedmont Glass & Mirror Company, Inc. (“PGM”) with effective begin date as of January 1, 1999.
- Business Tax Application, that identified the following owners and amounts: David Taylor, 20%; Julie Ann Taylor, 40%; David Lynn O’Shields, 40%.
- Waiver of Technical Compliance with § 33-16-200(a), identifying David Taylor, Julie Taylor, and David Lynn O’Shields as shareholders and the holders of all “of all issued and outstanding shares of stock of the” corporation.
- Waiver of Notice of Organizational Meeting of Shareholders, signed by David Taylor, Julie Taylor, and David Lynn O’Shields as shareholders.
- Minutes of Organizational Meeting of Shareholders identifying the following shareholders: Julie Ann Taylor holder of 400 shares; David Lynn O’Shields holder of 400 shares; David L. Taylor holder of 200 shares.
- Shareholder Management Agreement signed by David Taylor, Julie Taylor, and David Lynn O’Shields as shareholders.
- Stock Transfer Ledger identifying the following shareholders: Julie Ann Taylor holder of 400 shares; David Lynn O’Shields holder of 400 shares; David L. Taylor holder of 200 shares.¹

(PGM Corporate Records; R. p. 292-310, 314-317, 329-338).

¹ Respondents David and Julie Taylor testified that the signatures on the Stock Transfer Ledger are not theirs. (Transcript, pg. 193-194; R. p. 155-156). Julie Taylor admits that David Taylor maintained control of corporate records. (Transcript, pg. 194-195; R. p. 156-157).

Lynn testified that the partnership transformed into the corporation. (Transcript, pg. 22; R. p. 107, lines 18-22). The assets, the equipment, and the bank accounts of the partnership transferred into PGM, and they continued to operate in the same industry as the partnership. (Transcript, pg. 22; R. p. 107). At the time, Lynn noticed that the incorporating documents described above identified him as a holder of 400/1,000 shares rather, than 500; however, he relied upon the representation by David and Julie, that despite the documents showing 400 shares, he actually owned 500 shares (or 50%). (Transcript, pg. 23-24; R. p. 108-109). At trial, Julie Taylor admitted that her prior deposition testimony, given in April 2010, confirmed that the Business Tax Application, which identified Lynn as holder of 40% of PGM, was true, accurate, and correct to the best of her knowledge. (Transcript, pg. 200-201; R. p. 160-161). She also admitted that she signed the Shareholder Management Agreement that identified Lynn as a shareholder. (Transcript, pg. 203-204; R. p.162-163).

In 2001, PGM held a special meeting and decided to obtain a loan in order to acquire the building in which it operated. (Transcript, pg. 28-29; PGM Corporate Records; R. p. 111-112; R. p. 312-313). When PGM incorporated, and David was a shareholder, David and Julie represented to Lynn that the bank required David be an owner in the corporation, even though the incorporation occurred two years before the loan was obtained. (Transcript, pg. 23; R. p. 108). In order to acquire the loan, Lynn was required to pledge all of his personal assets, including his home, his car, and his wife's jewelry, as collateral for this loan. (Transcript, pg. 36-37; R. p. 116-117). Lynn testified that if he were not a shareholder in PGM, he would have not pledged his assets on a loan for the corporation. (Transcript, pg. 37; R. p. 117, lines 13-15).

Beginning in 1999, PGM began to file tax returns as an S-Corporation. (PGM Tax Returns; R. p. 375-489). These returns were prepared and signed by David Taylor, who was and still is a

Certified Public Accountant. (PGM Tax Returns; R. p. 375-489; Transcript, pg. 257, 264; R. p. 195, lines 20-24; R. p. 200, lines 10-15). From 1999 until 2006, every tax return prepared by David and filed by PGM identified to the IRS that Lynn was a shareholder holding 40% of shares of the corporation. (PGM Tax Returns; R. p. 357-420). David admitted in trial testimony that he is aware, as CPA, that if a tax return contains an error, he could have filed an amended return. (Transcript, pg. 264-265; R. p. 200-201). At trial, Julie Taylor admitted that her deposition testimony, given in April 2010, confirmed that these tax returns were true and accurate and correct to the best of her knowledge. (Transcript, pg. 199; R. p. 159, lines 22-25).

All corporate formalities, including annual meeting minutes and corporate resolutions that were executed from the date of incorporation until 2007 reported that all shareholders were present, and were signed by Lynn, as well as David and Julie. (PGM Corporate Records; R. p. 292-324).

IV. Shareholder Oppression and Fiduciary Duties

While Lynn was involved in PGM from 1999 until 2007, he was excluded from fully partaking in the business as a shareholder in that he was refused access to the Corporations' financial records by David, he did not have authority to sign checks, to hire or fire employees, or to make deposits. (Transcript pg. 35-36; R. p. 115-116). In regard to the handling of PGM's finances and financial records, Lynn testified that David Taylor handled the finances of the business. (Transcript, pg. 34- 35; R. p. 114-115). Julie Taylor testified that it was David's responsibility to ensure that PGM's taxes were paid on time. (Transcript, pg. 199; R. p. 159, lines 17-21). David testified that Julie handled the checkbook and he "handled preparing . . . the financial statements and legal reporting requirements and so forth." (Transcript, pg. 256; R. p. 194, lines 12-18). At some point prior to 2007, Lynn received a call from Internal Revenue Service regarding past due taxes for PGM. (Transcript, pg. 36; R. p. 116, lines 5-7). Records presented at trial, revealed that

PGM began to accrue tax liens and penalties filed by the IRS and South Carolina Department of Revenue, as early as 1998. (Transcript, pg. 146-147; Tax Liens; R. p. 251-252; R. p. 652-793). Most of the liens accrued from the years 2005-2013. (Transcript, pg. 147; R. p. 252, line 9). On direct examination when asked about the accrual of these liens, David Taylor explained that they were related to a cash flow problem. (Transcript, pg. 230-231; R. p. 173, lines 16-22). However, on cross examination David Taylor admitted that some were not “filed in a timely manner” because they were forgotten about, even though it was his responsibility to ensure that they were filed on time. (Transcript, pg.251-253; R. p. 189-191). Further, David admitted that in December 2005 PGM loaned Lynn and Julie’s parents \$10,000.00. (Transcript, pg.254-255; 2005 Check; R. p. 192-193; R. p.794-795). He also admitted that in November 2005 – the month prior to writing this \$10,000.00 check- PGM had two tax liens filed against them in an aggregate amount of approximately \$7,000.00. (Transcript, pg. 255; Tax Liens; R. p. 193, lines 5- 25; R. p. 652-793 (page 652 showing liens accrued in September and November 2005)). Further, in 2006 and 2007, when PGM continued to accrue tax liens, PGM’s check registry demonstrates that PGM made numerous payments to Bank of America for loan payments. (PGM Check Registry; R. p. 796-810). David Taylor admitted, however, that he had his mortgage through Bank of America at one time, and that PGM did not have any loans with Bank of America. (Transcript, pg. 257-259; R. p.195-197). In response to this admission, he states that he “may of advanced some money out of our personal account;” therefore he believes PGM is required to pay their personal payments. (Transcript, pg. 259-260; R. p.197-198).

In 2007, Lynn suffered a severe and debilitating accident while working on a project for PGM. (Transcript, pg. 37-38; R. p. 117-118). He fell from a significant height while standing on a ladder and crushed his right heel bone. (Transcript, pg. 37-38; R. p. 117-118).

After numerous and extensive surgeries, Lynn ultimately decided to remove his right leg below the knee due to the invasive and severe pain. (Transcript, pg. 38; R. p. 118, lines 5-20). At the time of his accident, Lynn's treating orthopedic surgeon instructed him not to return to work for six months. (Transcript, pg. 39; R. p.119, lines 22-25). He could not drive during this time. (Transcript, pg. 39-40; R. p. 119-120). Lynn communicated this prognosis to David and Julie. (Transcript, pg. 39; R. p. 120). Julie admitted that she received a note from his treating doctor regarding the same. (Transcript, pg. 197-198; R. p. 157-158).

Despite Lynn's injury, David and Julie believed that he could have continued to work for PGM in their office. (Transcript, pg. 191-192, 244; R. p.153-154; R. p.185, lines 10-23). At this time, in 2007, Lynn was no longer provided notice of shareholder meetings, and he did not partake in any shareholder meetings of any kind. (PGM Corporate Records; R. p. 325-329). When he attempted to return to work after six months, as prescribed by his treating physician, Lynn was told the he "could stay there as long as [he] wanted to, but [he] was not going[sic] to get paid." (Transcript, pg. 40; R. p. 120, lines 6-10). This action was instituted in 2007 shortly following these incidents. (Summons and Complaint; R. p. 17-30). In the Complaint, Lynn alleged that the corporate documents of PGM represented that Lynn owned 40% of the shares in PGM and that Respondents Taylors represented to him that he actually owned 50% of the shares. (Summons and Complaint; R. p. 17-30). Both of these allegations were denied by Respondents. (Answer and Counterclaim; R. p. 31-49). Up until the time of his accident he was permitted to partake in shareholder meetings and he was listed as a shareholder on the corporate tax returns. (*See generally*, Corporate Tax Returns; R. p. 375-489; *compare* PGM Corporate Records prior to 2007 and post 2007; R. p. 292-338). However, following his accident he was excluded entirely from the business and was not allowed to partake in any decisions nor was he identified as an owner any

longer. (*compare* PGM Corporate Records prior to 2007 and post 2007; R. p. 292-338; *see* post-2007 PGM Tax Returns; R. p. 421-489; Transcript, pg. 33-34; R. p. 113-114).

He testified that he was not provided notice of nor was he allowed to partake or vote in 2008, 2009, or 2011 special meetings. (Transcript, pg., 33-34; R. p. 113-114; post 2007 PGM Corporate Records; R. p. 292-338). Further, from 2009 until the time PGM was administratively dissolved in 2013, the tax returns filed by PGM failed to list Lynn as a shareholder.² (PGM Tax Returns; R. p. 421-489; Certificate of Dissolution; R. p. 371).

V. Incorporation of Carolina Storefront Systems, Inc.

In 2011, four years after the present action was filed and while it was still pending, David Taylor filed to create a new statutory close corporation called Carolina Storefront Systems, Inc. (“CSS”). (CSS Corporate Records; R. p. 339-370). David Taylor was the only officer and sole owner. (Transcript, pg. 260; R. p. 198, lines 10-15; CSS Corporate Records; R. p. 339-370). When asked for the reason why this entity was created, David stated that he met with a consultant and he explained the financial position of PGM, which included the “potential for some federal liens down the road, and existing liens we had to Piedmont Glass . . . SCDOR was knocking at the door getting ready to jerk our license . . . [s]o we had to get refinancing done and the only way we could do it was start a new entity.” (Transcript, pg. 234; R. p. 177, lines 14-25). After CSS was created, PGM was ultimately forfeited and administratively dissolved by the Secretary of State. (Certificate of Dissolution; R. p. 371). He explained that the reason PGM was forfeited in 2013 was because some of the tax liens “and a potential for so many others to come forward, and an inability to secure any type of products.” (Transcript, pg. 258; R. p. 196, lines 2-6).

At the same time that CSS was created, David and Julie, as shareholders and officers of

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