THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 05 2020**

APPEAL FROM CHEROKEE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

---

**SC Court of Appeals**

Case No: 2007-CP-11-00802  
Appellate Case No.: 2020-000161

---

David L. O'Shields,.....Appellant,

v.

Piedmont Glass & Mirror, Inc., Julie Taylor, David Taylor, and Carolina  
Storefront Systems, Inc.,.....Respondents,

---

**RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

s/ Joseph L.V. Johnson  
(SC Bar No: 77477)  
JoeJohnson@SATMLLC.COM  
Saint-Amand, Thompson & Mathis, LLC  
210 South Limestone Street, Suite 1  
Gaffney, South Carolina 29340  
Tel.: 864-489-6052

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

RESOLVED, that the subscriptions for shares in the Corporation, as set forth above, be accepted and that *upon payment therefore* by the subscribers, the Corporation through its proper officers shall cause to be issued to the said subscribers appropriate certificates which shall represent fully paid and nonassessable common shares of the Corporation.

(R. p. 308, emphasis added)

Naturally, in order for the Appellant to have an ownership interest in PGM and/or CSS, he would need to prove he was a shareholder in PGM. The Appellant's position is that the alleged verbal contract to work for less money was efficient consideration, and this consideration was what he paid for PGM's shares. It is without question that Julie and David paid for their shares of stock in PGM; Julie with the rights and assets to her sole proprietorship business, and David with a loan of approximately \$42,000. (R. pp. 148-149, 167-168, 170-172, 812-815). "A tentative subscription to stock which is not final, but which contemplates an act to be done in the future by the subscriber to make the subscription binding, is, of course, unenforceable as a contract." *Baker v. Mutual Loan & Inv. Co.*, 61 S.E.2d 387, 218 S.C. 47 (S.C. 1950) (citing 13 Am.Jur., Sec. 224, Page 331); see also *Williams v. Benet*, 34 S.C. 112, 13 S.E. 97 (S.C. 1891). If the Appellant's contention is that the alleged one-year work agreement is the consideration he paid for his stock in PGM, then accordingly his entire case rises and falls by that position. What is particularly interesting, however, is that there are corporate documents that indicate that

Appellant owned 40% of PGM. (R. pp. 813-815). It is difficult to reconcile, accordingly, why the Appellant is asserting a claim to 50% in PGM ownership yet is relying on documents that purport a 40% ownership in PGM. (R. pp. 4-13, 126-127). Ultimately, even if the court did not find the Statute of Frauds applied, the Appellant failed to show sufficient evidence of ownership in 50% of PGM. The Appellant never acted as shareholder since the inception of PGM. He never received dividends, was fired frequently, and made no assertive attempts to review the financial records of the corporations. (R. pp. 115, 130, 152, 184, 186, 203) As further noted by the circuit court, “[t]he [Appellant] made no management decisions.” (R. p. 5). Contrast the actions of the Appellant with that of David and Julie, who personally invested their assets, and even mortgaged their own home for the benefit of the Respondent corporations. (R. pp. 148-149, 167-168, 170-172, 812-828). Consequently, as the moving party, even *without* the Statute of Frauds as a defense, the Appellant failed to meet his burden of proof to show his ownership interest in any of the Respondent corporations.

**II. The circuit court correctly decided that Respondents were not equitably estopped from asserting the Statute of Frauds.**

The Appellant further contends that if the Statute of Frauds do apply, then the doctrine of equitable estoppel should stand as a defense to this claim by the Respondents. The doctrine requires that the party asserting estoppel “must show that he has suffered a definite, substantial, detrimental change of position in reliance on the contract, and that no remedy except enforcement of the bargain is adequate to restore his former position.” *Springob v. Univ. of S.C.*, 407 S.C. 490, 757 S.E.2d 384 (S.C. 2014) (citing *Collins Music Co. v. Cook*, 281 S.C. 580, 583, 316 S.E.2d 418, 420 (Ct.App.1984)). “It is not sufficient to show merely that he has lost an expected benefit under the contract.” *Id.* “Before the estoppel doctrine can be invoked, however,

**there must be competent proof of the existence of the oral contract.**” *Springob v. Univ. of S.C.* , 407 S.C. 490, 757 S.E.2d 384 (S.C. 2014) (citing *Atl. Wholesale Co. v. Solondz*, 283 S.C. 36, 40, 320 S.E.2d 720, 723 (Ct.App.1984)) (emphasis added). In the instant case, a review of evidence does not remotely show that there is any competent proof that the oral contract even existed. The Appellant submitted tax records that he acknowledged may not be accurate as a basis for proof of the contract. The Appellant relied on testimony from himself, his wife, and his brother to support his claim, though none of the testimony accurately portrayed the terms of the alleged contract, nor the manner in which it was created. The Appellant further claimed that Julie stated that he was a partner in a prior deposition, but she clarified at trial that she was referring to the actions of someone if they *were* a partner of a company. (R. pp. 154-155). The Appellant never filed any partnership paperwork with any governmental agency to prove its existence. Lastly, there is **no** documentation anywhere that shows that the Appellant was a partner and/or 50% owner of PGM. Because the Appellant failed to produce to the circuit court competent proof of the existence of the oral contract, the court correctly determined that equitable estoppel was inapplicable in this case.

The Appellant additionally argues that the equitable doctrine of partial performance should apply in this case. “[W]hen there is no writing, but part performance is alleged to remove an oral contract from the Statute of Frauds, a court of equity must find the following factors before it may compel specific performance of the oral contract: 1) clear evidence of an oral contract; 2) the contract had been partially executed; and 3) the party who requested performance had completed or was willing to complete his part of the oral contract.” *Fesmire v. Digh*, 683 S.E.2d 803, 385 S.C. 296 (S.C. App. 2009), (citing, *Settlemyer v. McCluney*, 359 S.C. 317, 320, 596 S.E.2d 514, 516).

Here again, the Appellant's argument that the Statute of Frauds was incorrectly applied fails again due to the lack of evidence. Because the case law requires "**clear** evidence of an oral contract" under the terms of *Settlemyer*, again the Appellant's claims have no merit. Even if you take the Appellant's position that he was to work for one year and become partner, he even acknowledged in his testimony after one year that nothing changed. (R. p. 125). Accordingly, the circuit court correctly decided that there was insufficient evidence to make a finding that the oral agreement existed.

**III. The circuit court correctly applied the Statute of Limitations to find that Appellant was not a partner or shareholder.**

The basic nexus of this case is twofold; the Appellant believes that the individual Respondents took money from a corporation he claims an ownership interest in, and he is seeking his alleged interest in the two corporations. Disregarding for a moment the frailty in the Appellant's evidence that he had an agreement to be a 50% owner in PGM, the heart of the case also depends on *when* he believed that he possessed a lesser interest and when he believed the individual Respondents had taken money from the corporations. There are two applicable Statute of Limitations relevant to this matter: S.C. Code Ann §33-8-420 (e) (2006) and S.C. Code Ann §15-3-530 (2005). The former statute, as part of the South Carolina Business Corporation Act, requires "an action against an officer for failure to perform the duties imposed by this section must be commenced within three years after the cause of action has accrued, or within two years after the time when the cause of action is discovered, or should reasonably have been discovered, whichever sooner occurs..." S.C. Code Ann §33-8-420 (e) (2006) Giving the Appellant the benefit of the doubt, to have a viable cause of action, he must a) prove he is a shareholder, and b) prove that he filed his suit within three years after the cause of action has

accrued. The latter Statute of Limitations is the basic three-year statute of limitations as applicable to most civil actions.

In the instant case, as previously stated, the Appellant executed documents on December 10, 1998 that showed an interest less than 50%. (R. pp. 297-338) The Appellant knew he signed these documents that showed that he did not own 50% of PGM in 1998. (R. pp. 126-127). The Complaint in this matter was filed on December 21, 2007, well beyond, viewing in the light most favorable to the Appellant, the three years Statute of Limitations. (R. pp. 17-30). The Appellant testified that he was assured by the individual Respondents that he owned 50% without offering any proof, however, as the circuit court noted, “[e]ven if the oral assurance was made, the [Appellant] took no action.” (R. pp. 10, 109).

Furthermore, the Appellant admitted at trial that he was under the belief that the individual Respondents were using corporate funds inappropriately since 1999, and yet again, took no action. (R. pp. 129-130). He also claimed that the individual Respondents denied him access to the corporate accounts “on a several occasions” and he again did nothing. (R. p. 115). Lastly, the Appellant claimed that the Respondents’ breached their duties by accruing tax liens, yet the Appellant did nothing when the IRS contacted him about liens “well before the injury.” (R. pp. 116, 138-139).

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Respondents would submit that the Appellant unduly delayed in his filing this matter, and the circuit court correctly decided that the Statute of Limitations applies to this case.

**IV. The circuit court correctly found that the Appellant was not oppressed as a shareholder by Respondents Taylor**

In the order denying the motion to alter or amend judgment, the circuit noted, when referring

to the oppressive cause of action claimed by the Appellant, that “[t]he [Appellant]’s failure to prove shareholder status in PGM or Carolina Storefront Systems is dispositive of these issues, and thus no amendment is made to this Court’s prior order.” (R. p. 15). This clarifying language was used to supplement the circuit order’s original order which stated: “The [Appellant] has not met his burden of proof necessary to show that he is a valid shareholder in either corporation, and lacks standing to claim an injury to himself as a shareholder or to claim derivatively a harm to either of the corporate entities.” (R. p. 10). Thus, because the Appellant lacked standing to file the action, the circuit court would not have been required to rule on the individual causes of action, namely, whether the Appellant was oppressed as a shareholder if for no other reason that the court determined he *wasn’t* a shareholder. The Appellant failed to meet his burden of proof, and that issue of his shareholder status was dispositive of all other issues.

Notwithstanding, the Appellant has requested this Honorable Court to address the issue of whether the circuit court nonetheless should have determined that the Appellant was oppressed as a shareholder. The Appellant relies heavily upon *Ballard v. Roberson*, 399 S.C. 588, 733 S.E.2d 107 (S.C. 2012) and *Kiriakides v. ATLAS FOOD SYSTEMS & SERV.*, 343 S.C. 587, 541 S.E.2d 257 (S.C. 2001) to support his proposition that *if* the Appellant is a shareholder, the actions of the Respondent were under the purview of oppressive behavior. Both the *Kiriakides* and *Ballard* cases outline the notion that there is no set standard to determine whether oppressive behavior has occurred or not. The *Kiriakides* opinion noted that:

“In particular, we do not believe the Legislature intended a court to judicially order a corporate dissolution solely upon the basis that a party's "reasonable expectations" have been frustrated by majority shareholders. To examine the "reasonable expectations" of minority shareholders would require the courts of this state to microscopically examine the dealings of closely held family corporations, the intentions of majority and minority stockholders in forming the

corporation and thereafter, the history of family dealings, and the like. We do not believe the Legislature, in enacting section 33-14-300, intended such judicial interference in the business philosophies and day to day operating practices of family businesses.”

*Kiriakides v. ATLAS FOOD SYSTEMS & SERV.*, 343 S.C. 587, 599, 541 S.E.2d 257 (S.C. 2001)

The South Carolina Supreme Court concluded that a case-by-case analysis was necessary to determine if shareholder oppression has occurred. The Appellant has insisted on several reasons that oppression has occurred. First, the Appellant claims that the tax liens that have accrued against the Respondent corporations somehow was oppressive to the Appellant, though he did not produce any evidence to support that his management of the corporations would have resulted in any different scenario. (R. pp. 4-13). David was able to explain at trial that the liens were mostly a result of economic hardship. (R. pp. 173-176). This argument also ignores the fact that David and Julie *personally* levied a mortgage against their home to pay off debts of PGM, which seems counterintuitive if they were attempting to oppress the Appellant *if* he were a shareholder. (R. pp. 178, 816-828). The Appellant also claims that a loan for \$10,000 from PGM again somehow oppressed the him, however, this loan was made to the Appellant’s mother, who had no ownership or other rights in any of the Respondent corporations. (R. pp. 191-192).

The Appellant further contends that he was oppressed by self-dealing transactions allegedly committed by Julie and David to the detriment of PGM. First, the Appellant failed to provide any clear evidence of this, despite retaining an expert witness to examine the financial records of PGM and CSS. During the trial, there were several instances wherein the Appellant’s expert Geoffrey Handel could not attest to how PGM’s finances operated. (R. pp. 254-259). In fact, the Appellant’s expert witness never testified to an exact amount that the Appellant was

actually allegedly owed in this matter. Furthermore, this argument has no merit, when it was clear that the Appellant and members of his immediately family received benefits to the detriment of PGM, namely, a cell phone provided to the Appellant's wife and daughter, along with the aforementioned loan to the Appellant's mother. (R. pp. 131, 140, 165, 182-183, 191-192, 829-831). Consequently, the Appellant's claims fail again: the Appellant did not provide proof that he was a shareholder, and even if his evidence was sufficient to show that he was, he was engaging the similar oppressive behavior that he is claiming the Respondents engaged in. The Respondents submitted a defense of unclean hands to the circuit court. The doctrine of unclean hands precludes a party from recovering in equity if the party acted unfairly in the matter that is the subject of the litigation to the prejudice of the opposing party. *Robinson v. the Estate Pinckney Harris*, 391 S.C. 114, 705 S.E.2d 41 (S.C. 2011) (citing *First Union Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Soden*, 333 S.C. 554, 568, 511 S.E.2d 372, 379 (Ct.App.1998)). The circuit court was not required to rule on the unclean hands defense because it was clear from the record that the Appellant was not a shareholder, and thus the oppressive claim could not proceed notwithstanding the defense. Nevertheless, the Respondents would submit that even if the Appellant would be found to be a shareholder, not only does he not have sufficient evidence to support his shareholder oppression cause of action, this claim would be barred by the equitable defense of unclean hands. Furthermore, as noted above, the Appellant admitted that he believed that Julie and David engaged in transactions that benefited them to the detriment of PGM since 1999, yet did nothing. (R. pp. 129-130). As previously discussed, the Statute of Limitations would additionally bar the claims of the Appellant in regards to shareholder oppression.

**V. The circuit court did not err in failing to find that Respondent Carolina Storefront Systems, Inc. is a successor corporation of Piedmont Glass & Mirror Company, Inc.**

Much like the argument in Paragraph 4 above, the Appellant is contending that the circuit court should have ruled on whether CSS was a successor corporation to PGM. This argument likewise is ineffective due to the fact the Appellant failed to prove he was a shareholder in PGM and he presented no evidence that he had any interest in CSS independent of his claims against PGM. The circuit court, therefore, had no reason to rule on that issue, given the Appellant's lack of standing to make those claims.

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